COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN

CITY OF AIRDRIE



- AND -

AIRDRIE PROFESSIONAL FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION, LOCAL 4778



January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

⊥.	PURPOSE OF AGREEIVIENT	4
2.	RECOGNITION, COVERAGE AND DUES DEDUCTION	NS 4
3.	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	5
4.	ASSOCIATION ACTIVITY AND REPRESENTATION	6
5.	PROFESSIONAL FEES	6
6.	LABOUR MANAGEMENT / HEALTH & SAFETY JOI	NT
RELA	TIONS	7
7.	NO STRIKES / NO LOCKOUTS	7
8.	HOURS OF WORK AND SHIFT SCHEDULES	7
9.	SHIFT TRADING	8
10.	CALL-IN	9
11.	CALL-BACK	9
12.	ON CALL	10
13.	WAGES	10
14.	TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS	10
15.	OVERTIME	11
16.	SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL	11
17.	RANDOM CALL SYSTEM	11
18.	SENIORITY	11
19.	LAYOFF AND RECALL	12
20.	JOB POSTINGS	13
21.	PROMOTIONS	13
22.	LEARNING OPPORTUNITIES	13
	PROBATIONARY FIREFIGHTERS	14
24.	TERM EMPLOYEES	14
25.	CORRECTIVE ACTION PROCESS	15
26.	GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES	16
27.	NAMED HOLIDAYS	18
28.	ANNUAL VACATION	19
29.	BENEFITS	21
30.	SICK TIME	22

31.	MCB	22
32.	MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS	23
33.	WELLNESS AND MEDICAL ASSESSMENTS	23
34.	UNIFORMS	24
35.	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	24
36.	REFRESHMENTS	26
37.	NO DISCRIMINATION	27
38.	LINE OF DUTY DEATH	27
39.	LIABILITY INSURANCE	27
40.	SHORT TERM AND LONG TERM DISABILITY	27
41.	TRAINING	28
42.	SENIOR FIREFIGHTER	28
43.	SERVICE PAY	28
44.	ALTERNATIVE TO SUPPLEMENTARY PENSION PLAN	29
45.	MANDATORY RETIREMENT	29
46.	NEW CLASSIFICATION	29
47.	JOB PROFILES	30
48.	DURATION OF AGREEMENT	30
App	endix "A" Regular Rates of Pay	31
App	endix "B" AB Employment Standards Vacation	33
LETT	TER OF LINDERSTANDING #1	34

1. PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

- .01 In light of the value of joint discussions and negotiations of issues relating to the City of Airdrie's relationship with its firefighters, the purpose of this Agreement is to promote and maintain a peaceful and harmonious relationship and to set out wages, hours of work and other working conditions of the affected firefighters. The parties agree to apply the provisions of the Agreement in a spirit of good will, respect and understanding.
- .02 Wherever the words "he", "his" or "him" appear in this Agreement, they shall be interpreted to include the feminine gender.
- .03 Wherever the word "Firefighter" appears in the agreement, this includes suppression and non-suppression staff unless otherwise specified.
- .04 The intent of this agreement is to establish a strong partnership between the Employer and the Association.

2. RECOGNITION, COVERAGE AND DUES DEDUCTIONS

- .01 The Employer recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for all firefighters covered by Certificate # 231-2009, as issued by the Labour Relations Board.
- .02 The City will deduct regular Association dues from the wages of bargaining unit firefighters for each pay period and remit those dues to the Association by the 15th of the next calendar month. A list of the names of the affected firefighters shall accompany the monies.
- .03 The Association will advise the City of the amount of dues to be deducted and will provide a minimum of four (4) weeks' notice of any change to the regular dues structure.
- .04 The Association agrees to indemnify and save harmless the City against any claim, demand, action or liability from application of this provision.
- .05 The Association agrees to reimburse the City for any unpaid arrears for dues which a member owes but leaves the City prior to paying.

3. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- .01 Subject to the express terms of this Agreement, the Association acknowledges that it is the exclusive right of the City to manage its operation in all respects and direct the workforce, including but not limited to the following:
 - Maintaining order, discipline and efficiency; the right to discipline, suspend or discharge firefighters for just cause;
 - Making or altering, from time to time, rules, regulations, policies and procedures to be observed by firefighters, which are not otherwise in conflict with the provisions of this Agreement;
 - c) Determining location of operations and the expansion, curtailment or discontinuance of operations; scheduling operations, shifts and rotations including shift starting and ending times; determining job content and quality and quantity standards; determining levels of training required and using improved methods, machinery and equipment;
 - d) Determining the nature and type of fire-related services to be provided by the City and the methods and techniques of work to provide those services, together with the number of firefighters required to perform those services:
 - e) Organizing and re-organizing the work of firefighters; creating new positions, classifications and work units; declaring positions, classifications or work units redundant; directing, selecting, hiring, promoting, transferring, assigning to positions and shifts including rotating shifts; scheduling, demoting, classifying, laying off and recalling firefighters.
- .02 The City retains all rights not expressly limited by the terms of this Agreement.
- .03 If significant changes are made to the organizational structure the Employer will endeavor to advise the Association prior to implementing changes.

4. ASSOCIATION ACTIVITY AND REPRESENTATION

- .01 Association businesses will not be permitted on City time or on City property unless prior permission of the Fire Chief, or his delegate, has been granted. If the Fire Chief requests a meeting with a firefighter during scheduled work time there will not be a financial cost to the firefighter being asked to meet during his scheduled shift.
- .02 Association business meetings may be held on City time or on City property with prior approval from the Fire Chief or his delegate.
- .03 Official representatives of the International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF) may be granted access to the City premises only if the Fire Chief or his designate, is informed of and has approved the access prior to the requested visit. Such visits shall not interfere with the City's operations or affect a firefighter's work obligations.
- .04 Association notices may be posted on a bulletin board provided by the Association in designated places on City premises but only where first approved by the Fire Chief, or his designate.
- .05 The City will recognize Association representatives provided written notice of their names has been previously provided to the City. The Association acknowledges that such representatives have their regular work to perform as firefighters of the City. It is therefore agreed that they shall not leave their work to investigate or process a grievance or undertake any other Association business during working hours without prior consent of the Fire Chief or his designate.
- .06 There shall be no discrimination or coercion practiced against a firefighter because of membership in the Association or lawful activity on the Association's behalf.

5. PROFESSIONAL FEES

.01 The City shall pay all professional fees and registrations that are required by the City as a firefighter's condition of employment. It is understood that the Association fees and registrations are excluded from this article.

6. <u>LABOUR MANAGEMENT / HEALTH & SAFETY JOINT RELATIONS</u>

- .01 The parties agree that upon request of either party, a labour management / occupational health and safety meeting may be called as soon as possible to address items of concern or importance to the parties. Such meetings shall require at least five (5) calendar day's prior notice from the requesting party wherever possible and shall not occur on a more frequent basis than once every three (3) months unless some urgent matter should arise.
- .02 The meeting will consist of a minimum of 2 representatives from each party to this agreement, but at no time shall such representation from either party exceeds 3.

7. NO STRIKES / NO LOCKOUTS

- .01 The Association agrees that it will not cause, authorize, sanction or permit firefighters to cause a strike or engage in any strike action while this Agreement is in force.
- .02 The City agrees that it will not authorize or engage in lockout action while this Agreement is in force.

8. HOURS OF WORK AND SHIFT SCHEDULES

- .01 The City maintains the right to provide its fire services on a continued twenty-four (24) hours, seven (7) days a week basis.
- .02 Firefighters shall work shift work as scheduled by the City with a repeating fifty-six (56) day cycle that averages a forty-two (42) hour work week.
- .03 Firefighters shall work an eight (8) day platoon shift schedule cycle (tour) consisting of: one 24 hour shift starting at 8 a.m., followed immediately by two (2) days off, followed by one 24 hour shift starting at 8 a.m., followed immediately by four (4) days off. Start times may be altered with mutual agreement between management and the Association.
- .04 Notwithstanding .03 above, nothing in this Agreement prevents the Fire Chief, or his designate, upon fourteen (14)

- calendar day's written notice to the Association, from changing a firefighter's platoon assignment.
- .05 With mutual agreement, firefighters can be reassigned to work another shift cycle or hours of work outside of the suppression unit. Where there is a bona fide occupational need, mutual agreement to the schedule change is not required.
- .06 For the purposes of the Employment Standards Code, the Association agrees, on behalf of each of its members, that the 24 hour shift schedule set out in Article 8.03 provides benefits that are at least equal to those in the Code, such that overtime is not payable for hours worked during a regularly scheduled 24 hour shift.
- .07 Non-suppression staff shall work a day shift schedule aligning with operational requirements in a 40 hour work week.
 - a) Option 1
 - 5 consecutive days 8 hour days 40 hour work week
 - b) Option 2
 - 4 consecutive days 10 hour days 40 hour work week

Days may be altered for optimal coverage. Schedule may be altered with mutual agreement between management and the Association

9. SHIFT TRADING

- .01 Where a firefighter wishes to exchange shifts with another firefighter of suitable qualifications, an application shall be made in writing to the Fire Chief, or designate, for approval of the shift exchange not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the shift in question is due to commence. The application shall be signed by the firefighters involved.
- .02 The City will not be held financially responsible for shift trades between firefighters. If a firefighter resigns, retires, is terminated, or while active owes any other firefighter of the department a repayment of shifts, the firefighters involved will not request the City for monies owed because the firefighter is not able to "repay" shifts owing for any reason. No shift trade can result in overtime being paid by the City.
- .03 In the event that a shift exchange has been approved, but an affected firefighter fails to report for duty because of illness, he may be asked to provide a medical certificate for the time

absent to the Fire Chief or designate. If a firefighter is unable to work an agreed shift exchange due to illness, it is the responsibility of the firefighter to provide a replacement firefighter of suitable qualifications. If a firefighter fails to report for any reason and does not provide a replacement firefighter for himself, his shift trading privileges may be suspended. Should this behavior continue, further corrective actions may be taken.

.04 Shifts may not be traded to accommodate secondary employment, including self-employment.

10. CALL-IN

Call-in is defined as the immediate need for emergency response personnel.

- .01 During a firefighter's off-duty hours, he may be called in to work to perform fire services.
- .02 A firefighter called in and requested to work, will be paid at the overtime rate of two (2) times their regular hourly rate. Under no circumstances, however, will a firefighter be paid less than two (2) hours at overtime rates.
- .03 No call-in pay will be received where a firefighter fails to respond to a call-in within twenty (20) minutes from the time of page out and whose services are no longer required.
- .04 Call-in pay will commence from the time of the page out.

11. CALL-BACK

Call-back is defined as calling a firefighter in for shift coverage where relief crews are required but not in an immediate timeframe

- .01 All emergency response personnel can be contacted for call-back shifts.
- .02 A firefighter called back and requested to work, will be paid at the overtime rate equal to two (2) times their regular hourly rate. Under no circumstances, however, will a firefighter be paid less than two (2) hours at overtime rates.

.03 Requirements of the situation will determine the timeframes within which firefighters are required to report for duty once called. Pay commences when the firefighter arrives at the assigned hall to start the shift.

12. ON CALL

- .01 On Call is defined as preplanned emergency response scheduling.
- .02 Firefighters On Call shall be paid \$2.00 per hour.
- .03 a) A firefighter on call who is called back and required to report for work will additionally be paid a minimum of two
 (2) hours of overtime, paid at the rate of one and a half
 (1.5) time their regular hourly rate.
 - b) The firefighter's call-back pay in these circumstances will commence from the time of the page out and ends when the firefighter is released by the incident commander.

13. WAGES

- .01 The Schedule of Wages set out in Appendix "A" forms part of this Agreement.
- .02 Firefighters shall be paid their wages on a biweekly basis.

14. TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS

- .01 When a firefighter is placed in a senior position in the Fire Department for one hour or more of the scheduled shift, the firefighter shall receive pay for the next higher rank or pay level to his position while acting in such senior capacity.
- .02 Firefighters placed into acting assignments will be selected from the applicable eligibility list.
- .03 A firefighter is not entitled to acting pay where his work in the higher paid classification is necessitated by the incumbent's absence at an association meeting or union business.

15. OVERTIME

- .01 Hours authorized and worked in excess of a firefighter's scheduled regular hours of work shall be considered overtime.
- .02 Overtime must be authorized by the Fire Chief, or his designate on duty.
- .03 a) Subject to b) below and article 27.05, all overtime under this agreement shall be paid at one and one half (1.5) times the firefighter's regular rate of pay.
 - b) In situations of Call-in, Call-back and short notice (less than 24 hours) unscheduled overtime, overtime shall be paid at two times (2) the firefighter's regular rate of pay.
- .04 Overtime can be banked and used in a timeframe that aligns with current AB Employment Standards. Time will be used at a time approved by the Fire Chief or his designate.

16. SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

- .01 A Shift Differential will be paid for each hour worked between the hours of 1800 and 0800. The rate of the shift differential shall be \$1.00 per hour.
- .02 A Shift Differential will not be subject to overtime percentages and will be paid out at \$1.00 per hour regardless of the rate of pay the firefighter is earning for the time worked.

17. RANDOM CALL SYSTEM

.01 For the purpose of selecting firefighters for replacement of scheduled shifts on short notice the City designate will utilize a random call back system based on ability to meet operational requirements.

18. SENIORITY

.01 For current firefighters, seniority shall be established from the date of hire with the Airdrie Fire Department. For firefighters hired subsequently, seniority shall be established from the date of entry into the bargaining unit. A seniority list of the bargaining unit employees at the time this contract is ratified

- is attached. Any new employees will be added to this list annually.
- .02 Where two or more firefighters enter the bargaining unit on the same day their relative seniority shall be established by the Selection Committee at the time of hiring.
- .03 Firefighters shall not acquire or accrue seniority until the successful completion of their probationary period. However, after successfully completing their probationary period the firefighter's seniority will be recognized from the beginning of the probationary period.
- .04 Seniority shall be lost, all rights forfeited and there shall be no obligation to rehire when:
 - a) The firefighter resigns, retires or abandons their position;
 - b) The firefighter is discharged for just cause;
 - The firefighter is absent without authorized leave, unless there are extenuating circumstances as determined by the Fire Chief, or his designate;
 - The firefighter is on layoff for more than twelve (12) continuous months without being recalled;
 - The firefighter fails to return to work within 2 weeks after being notified of recall from layoff;
 - The firefighter is absent because of illness, disability or injury for a continuous period of twenty-four (24) months.
- .05 It is the responsibility of the firefighter to ensure the City has current contact information during a layoff period for recall purposes.

19. LAYOFF AND RECALL

- .01 In laying off firefighters and in recalling firefighters from layoff, the City will consider the relevant knowledge, ability and capability of the firefighters to perform the available work as well as their suitability. Where these factors are deemed equal by the City as between two (2) or more firefighters, seniority will govern.
- .02 The City will advise the Association of all layoffs or recalls.

20. JOB POSTINGS

.01 If the City decides to fill a vacant position within the bargaining unit, it shall be posted for a period of at least fourteen (14) days.

21. PROMOTIONS

- .01 Promotions shall be based on factors relevant to the position, as determined by the City. When making promotions, factors considered may include the attitude, capacity for learning, cultural and values leadership, level of skill, and knowledge of the applicants as determined by the City. When these factors are deemed to be equal, as determined by the City, seniority shall be the determining factor.
- .02 The department will maintain a Promotions Board to manage the process of promotions within the department. The Promotions Board will consist of equal representation from management and the Association.

22. LEARNING OPPORTUNITIES

- .01 Firefighters who are promoted within suppression will complete a twelve (12) month learning period to develop skills in the new role. If at any time during the twelve (12) months the City determines that the promoted firefighter is not meeting the expectations of the new role, the firefighter will revert back to a previously held position and rank. If at any time during the twelve (12) months the firefighter can revert back to their previously held position and rank if the position is vacant
- .02 Firefighters who move to a role outside of the suppression area will complete a twelve (12) month learning period to develop skills in the new role. If at any time during the twelve (12) months the City determines that the promoted firefighter is not meeting the expectations of the new role, the firefighter will either:
 - a) Be terminated; or,

b) Revert back to a previously held position and rank provided that the previously held position was within the bargaining unit and the role is then vacant.

23. PROBATIONARY FIREFIGHTERS

- .01 During a firefighter's first year worked, he shall be considered to be a probationary firefighter and may be terminated at any time during this period or at the end of the probationary period.
- .02 A probationary firefighter's termination may be grieved but only as far as Step 2 of Article 26. The Director of Community Safety's decision at that step will be final and binding with no recourse to the arbitration process.
- .03 At the Fire Chief's or his designates, discretion, the probationary period may be extended by a further period not to exceed six (6) months. Any such extension must be in writing.

24. TERM EMPLOYEES

- .01 a) A term employee is a firefighter hired on a temporary full time basis for a specific purpose and for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months. The period may, however, be extended by agreement in writing between the City and the Association. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld.
 - b) Prior to the time of hire, the City shall advise the Association in writing of the expected term of the position.
 - Unless agreed to by the Parties, the City shall not engage a term employee to avoid establishing a permanent position or to avoid filling an existing vacancy.
- .02 a) An employee hired for an expected term of twelve (12) months or more is eligible for all benefits set out in this Agreement, except for the Supplementary Pension / RSP Plan.
 - b) Term employees hired for expected periods of less than twelve (12) months duration are eligible for all benefits set out in this Agreement, except for LAPP and the Supplementary Pension / RSP Plan.

- .03 A permanent employee on maternity / parental leave shall only be replaced by a term employee.
- .04 Term employees are subject to the same performance expectations as probationary employees. Appropriate inhouse training will be provided.
- .05 A term employee may not grieve the termination of his employment when no longer required in that position or upon completion of the expected term of the position.
- .06 a) A term employee who subsequently becomes employed in a permanent position with the City shall be credited with the following entitlements earned during his period of term employment, provided not more than ten (10) days have elapsed since he last worked for the City:
 - i) Seniority;
 - ii) Severance pay; and
 - iii) Progression.
 - Previously ineligible benefits will commence as per the guidelines outlined in this Agreement.

25. CORRECTIVE ACTION PROCESS

- .01 A firefighter who has completed their probationary period may be disciplined or discharged for just cause.
- .02 Where a firefighter is being disciplined or discharged a meeting will normally be held between the firefighter and management, with advance written/email notification of the meeting to the Association. The firefighter may request the actual presence of an Association representative at the meeting for the purpose of witnessing the discussion. If an Association representative is not readily available, the meeting will proceed in the representative's absence; however, the Association shall receive a copy of the notes taken in the meeting.
- .03 A record of corrective action on a firefighter's file will not be relied on for subsequent disciplinary action once two (2) years has elapsed from the date the original corrective action was invoked, except where:

- The firefighter's file contains a further record of corrective action during the two (2) year period; or,
- The discipline concerned was in respect of substance or other abuse or involved circumstances where the public or other firefighters were at risk.

26. GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

.01 A dispute concerning the interpretation, application, operation or alleged contravention of this Agreement shall be considered a grievance and shall be dealt with in the following manner:

Pre Step (Informal Grievance)

A grievance shall be first addressed informally between the firefighter and the Fire Chief, or his designate, with or without an Association representative. If the Association is not present, it is the firefighter's responsibility to advise that a meeting has taken place.

The purpose of the informal discussion is to review the circumstances giving rise to the incident and to determine whether the complaint can be satisfactorily resolved without using the formal grievance procedure.

Step 1 (Formal Grievance Fire Chief)

Failing satisfactory resolution at Pre Step, a grievance may be initiated, provided written notice is given to the Fire Chief within fifteen (15) days after the Fire Chief's, or designate, response at Pre Step. The grievance will be addressed between the President, or his designate, and the Fire Chief, or his designate.

- The written grievance must be signed by the Association and contain:
 - full particulars of the facts underlying the grievance;
 - ii) the Article(s) of the Agreement and/or statutes claimed to have been violated; and,
 - iii) the redress sought.

Step 2 (Formal Grievance Director of Community Safety)

Failing satisfactory resolution at Step 1, the grievance may be advanced to Step 2, provided written notice is given to the Director of Community Safety, or his designate, within fifteen (15) days after the Fire Chief's response at Step 1.

- The written grievance must be signed by the Association and contain:
 - i) full particulars of the facts underlying the grievance;
 - ii) the Article(s) of the Agreement and/or statutes claimed to have been violated; and,
 - iii) the redress sought.
- b) Within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the written grievance, the Director of Community Safety, or his designate, shall provide the Association with a written response to the grievance.
- At the request of either party, a meeting may be held during the Step 2 process.

Step 3 (Arbitration)

- a) Failing satisfactory resolution at Step 2, the grievance may be advanced to arbitration, provided written notice is given to the Director of Community Safety, or his designate, within fifteen (15) days after the Director of Community Safety's response at Step 2.
 - The notice shall include the name, address, business phone number and business fax number of the Association's nominee to the board of arbitration.
- b) The City shall, within fifteen (15) days following receipt of the arbitration notice, advise the Association of the name, address, business phone number and business fax number of its nominee to the board of arbitration.
- c) The nominees shall, within fifteen (15) days thereafter, attempt to appoint a chair for the arbitration board. If a chair cannot be agreed upon then the Director of Mediation Services may be asked by either party to appoint the chair.
- d) The arbitration board shall not add to, subtract from, modify or amend the terms of this Agreement. Nor shall the board adjudicate any issue not specifically raised in the grievance.
- The decision of the majority of the members of the arbitration board is the decision of the board but, if there

is no majority, the decision of the chair governs. Each party is responsible for the fee and expenses of its nominee. The fee and expenses of the chair shall be shared equally by the parties.

.02 The Association or the City may file a policy grievance in appropriate circumstances. A policy grievance shall not be brought with respect to matters capable of being filed as individual grievances or in respect of remedies or relief affecting individual firefighters.

Policy grievances shall be initiated in writing at Step 2 of the Grievance Procedures within thirty (30) calendar days of the act causing the grievance.

.03 In this Article, unless otherwise stated, "days" shall not include Saturdays, Sundays or named holidays.

.04

- a) Should the Firefighter or the Association fail to adhere to any time limit in this article, the grievance shall be considered conceded and abandoned, unless the City and Association have agreed in writing to extend the time limit.
- b) Should the City fail to respond within an applicable time limit set out in this article, the grievance shall automatically move to the next step, unless the City and the Association have agreed in writing to extend the time limit

27. NAMED HOLIDAYS

.01 The following twelve (12) named holidays are recognized under this Agreement:

New Year's Day
Family Day
Good Friday
Easter Monday
Victoria Day
Canada Day

Heritage Day
Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

.02 To be eligible for a named holiday with pay a firefighter must:

- a) work their full scheduled shift immediately preceding and immediately following the holiday, unless the City has consented to their absence;
- work their shift on a named holiday when scheduled to do so; and
- not be on laid off status or on a leave of absence, sick leave or disability absence.
- .03 Eligible firefighters under Article 27.02 above shall receive twelve (12) hours pay at their regular hourly pay.
- .04 A firefighter whose scheduled hours of work are on a named holiday shall receive time and one half (1½) their regular rate of pay for work performed on the named holiday, in addition to any named holiday pay to which he is entitled under Article 27.03 above.
- .05 Hours in excess of regular scheduled hours on a statutory holiday shall be paid at two times (2) the firefighter's regular rate of pay.
- .06 Stat Banked time accrued and not scheduled for use by the end of the calendar year will be paid out in pay period 24. The 24 hours earned for Christmas Day and Boxing Day can be carried over for use in the coming year.
- .07 Firefighters requesting Stat Banked time off with less than 24 hours' notice, must report for duty as scheduled. The firefighter can then be released by the Officer once it is confirmed that STO coverage is available for the time requested.

28. ANNUAL VACATION

- .01 Suppression staff are entitled to an annual paid vacation as follows:
 - a) New firefighters will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 6.6% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 2 weeks' vacation annually up to five (5) years and 3 weeks' vacation after five (5) years completed service.
 - After six (6) years completed service, a firefighter will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 8.8% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 3 weeks' vacation annually;

- After thirteen (13) years completed service, a firefighter will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 11% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 3 weeks' vacation annually;
- d) After twenty-four (24) years completed service a firefighter will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 13.2% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 3 weeks' vacation annually.
- e) A firefighter who commenced employment prior to April 1, 1998 and has reached nineteen (19) years completed service will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 13.2% and meet *AB Employment Standards* by using 3 weeks' vacation annually.
- .02 Non-Suppression staff are entitled to an annual paid vacation as follows:
 - a) Employee will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 6% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 2 weeks' vacation annually up five (5) years and 3 weeks' vacation after five (5) years completed service.
 - After six (6) years completed service, employee will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 8% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 3 weeks' vacation annually;
 - After thirteen (13) years completed service, employee will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 10% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 3 weeks' vacation annually;
 - d) After twenty-four (24) years completed service, employee will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 13.2% of annual regular hours worked and meet AB Employment Standards by using 3 weeks' vacation annually.
 - e) An employee who commenced employment prior to April 1, 1998 and has reached nineteen (19) years completed service will accrue vacation entitlement at an annual rate of 12% and meet AB Employment Standards by using 3 weeks' vacation annually.

- .03 Earned vacation time must be taken as paid time off. It will not be paid out, except on cessation of employment.
- .04 Vacation will be scheduled in accordance with the City's operating needs. However, the City will make reasonable efforts to grant vacations at the time or times desired by the firefighters.
- .05 Firefighters will be permitted to use up to a maximum of one years allotted vacation time prior to earning that time with prior approval of the Fire Chief or his designate. Vacation time will not be accrued by an employee who is off work and receiving WCB, EI, STD, or LTD benefits.
- .06 Vacation carry-over shall be granted to a maximum of one (1) years' allotment of vacation minus two weeks (84 hours) or three weeks (126 hours) provided the employee meets AB Employment Standards as indicated above.
- .07 In the event a firefighter leaves employment with the City in a vacation deficit, the City will recover the financial deficit from the employee.

AB Employment Standards can be found in Appendix B

29. BENEFITS

- .01 Provided a firefighter meets the qualifying periods of employment for coverage and meets any other requirements for participation as determined by the City or the insurer, the City agrees to share the cost of benefits in accordance with the program as it pertains to the Firefighters Group benefits.
- .02 Participation in the benefits listed above in Article 29.01 is mandatory for all eligible firefighters, except for Dental Care and Extended Health Care where the employee has documented and satisfactory coverage with their spouse or significant other.
- .03 The City's responsibility for the benefits listed in Article 29.01 above is limited to the payment of its share of premiums to purchase the coverages. The City has no liability for the failure or refusal of an insurance carrier to honor a firefighter's claim or to pay benefits and no such action on the part of the carrier will constitute a breach of this Agreement by the City. No dispute related to benefits referred to in this Article, apart from payment of the required premiums, is subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures.

- .04 The City retains the right to change insurance carriers and amend or add to benefit coverages. In such circumstances, the City shall notify the Association accordingly.
- .05 Where an amendment to an existing benefits coverage would result in a substantially reduced benefit to firefighters, prior agreement with the Association is required. If agreement to the changes cannot be reached, the benefits for firefighters shall remain the same.

30. SICK TIME

- .01 A firefighter's sick time entitlement is earned at a rate of 12 hours per month to a maximum accrual of 144 hours annually.
- .02 Non-suppression staff's sick time entitlement is earned at a rate of 8 hours per month to a maximum accrual of 96 hours annually.
- .03 Sick time shall only be paid if the firefighter has sick time accrued. Sick time taken in excess of what the firefighter has accrued shall be taken without pay or by using vacation, banked or stat banked time unless the duration of absence extends into Short Term Disability (i.e. eight calendar days).
- .04 The City has the right to question sick time claimed. Firefighters may therefore be required to submit proof satisfactory to the Employer of any health related absence.
- .05 Firefighters who are unable to come to work due to sickness must notify their team leader not less than one hour prior to the start of the scheduled shift. A firefighter must keep their team leader advised of any material changes concerning their prognosis for returning to work.
- .06 Sick time entitlement shall not be earned by a firefighter who is off work and receiving EI, STD or LTD benefits. Accrued sick time may be used, however, for family responsibility leave, emergency and personal illness time, as per City of Airdrie guidelines.

31. WCB

.01 When the Alberta Workers' Compensation Board (WCB) accepts a claim for a work related injury or illness, the

- firefighter shall receive regular wages for a period not to exceed 180 consecutive calendar days from original day of accepted injury or illness.
- .02 Beyond the 180 consecutive calendar day period, the firefighter shall receive the compensation from WCB as set out in the Workers' Compensation Act. The firefighter will continue to pay their portion of all regular and statutory deductions and benefits, including STD, LTD, LAPP, and RSP.
- .03 WCB compensation shall not be payable to a member when he is able to return to work or after he is granted a permanent pension by the Workers' Compensation Board for either partial or total disability.

32. MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS

- .01 Where the City has cause to believe that a firefighter is unable to return to, or continue to perform, the duties of their position, the firefighter may be required to submit to an Independent Medical Examination ("IME") or a Functional Capacity Evaluation ("FCE").
- .02 The IME or FCE will be conducted by a physician or health professional mutually selected by the City and the Association. The cost of the IME or FCE will be shared by the City and the Association.
- .03 The City will consider the findings and results of the IME or FCE in determining the status of the firefighter, including any reasonable job modifications or other accommodation measures. The parties involved shall make an effort to place a member in suitable alternate employment within the bargaining unit or within the City (which may include a resultant change in wages).

33. WELLNESS AND MEDICAL ASSESSMENTS

- .01 No new member shall be hired into the Airdrie Fire Department without first successfully passing a fitness test and a medical examination indicating his physically ability to properly perform the duties into which he is being hired.
- .02 Each firefighter must complete a wellness assessment and a medical examination confirming his physical ability to properly

perform his duties a minimum of every two (2) years. Firefighters who do not meet the fit for duty requirements will be given a specific timeframe to make the necessary improvements. If the employee still cannot meet the physical requirements of the job based on the testing results, job loss or reassignment (which may include a resultant change in wages) may result.

- .03 Where possible, NFPA or WFI standards will be used as guideline documents to assess ability.
- .04 Every second (2nd) year each firefighter must attend a City approved assessment centre for a medical assessment.
- .05 The costs of the assessment will be borne by the City. If scheduling allows, time for assessments will be accommodated during a scheduled shift at regular pay. If this is not possible, the firefighter will receive one and one half (1½) times their regular pay for two (2) hours as compensation for attending the assessment during off duty hours. The firefighter will be responsible for any cost due to missed appointments.

34. UNIFORMS

- .01 The City will provide firefighters with required seasonal uniform issue, personal protective clothing, specialized clothing and gear.
- .02 Each firefighter has the responsibility to maintain a uniform kit with required components for their duties.
- .03 The parties agree to comply with AFD Standard Operating Guidelines as revised from time to time. Where Uniforms may be considered to be less than what they were previously, mutual agreement is required to proceed with the changes.

35. LEAVES OF ABSENCE

.01 Bereavement Leave:

For the purpose of this leave, relative means: current spouse, son, daughter, ward, brother, sister, parent, parent of spouse or significant other, grandson, granddaughter, grandparent, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandparent of spouse or

significant other, or a related dependent of the employee living in the household of the employee.

- ♦ Bereavement leave for a relative up to 48 hours.
- ♦ Bereavement leave for non-relative 12 hours.
- Travel time an extension of up to 24 hours may be granted for travel in excess of 300 kilometers (one way) at the discretion and approval of the Fire Chief, or his designate.

.02 Court Leave:

A firefighter summoned to appear as a witness for City business during court proceedings shall be paid their regular difference between what they would have earned for their regular hours and the fee received. The City may require employees to furnish a certificate of service from an officer of the court before making any payment. Employees will come to work during those hours that they are not required to attend court.

If a firefighter is called in off duty to act as a witness for City business, they will be paid at an overtime rate of 1.5 times their regular wages for all time worked.

A member shall suffer no loss of pay for serving jury duty.

If a firefighter is appearing in court for a personal matter the firefighter will attend on their own time at no cost to the City.

.03 Job Protected Leaves Without Pay:

These leaves are provided to eligible firefighters with the commitment that they will be reinstated in the same or similar position and rate of pay as was in effect at the commencement of the leave

- ♦ Citizenship Ceremony
- Compassionate Care
- Critical Illness
- Death or Disappearance of a Child
- Domestic Violence
- Maternity* and Parental

*During the first week of the health-related portion of maternity leave, those employees eligible for Short Term Disability benefits will be paid by the City the difference between their Employment Insurance payment and their regular salary.

During the remaining five (5) weeks of the healthrelated portion of the leave, the employee will be paid by the City the difference between what they would receive on Short Term Disability and Employment Insurance payments.

- Personal and family responsibility
- Reservist

Employees are encouraged to seek information at work.alberta.ca and canada.ca for further information on eligibility and length of these leaves.

.04 Returning to Work:

Firefighters are required to provide the fire chief or designate with appropriate notice of their return to work date from any leave as outlined in *AB Employment Standards*. Vacation is not earned during any leave.

.05 Covering your Benefits on Leave:

Where a firefighter is eligible for a leave of absence of more than one month's duration that firefighter shall make prior arrangements for the payment of their portion of the premium for the applicable plans.

If an employee returns to work, the leave will be considered as continuous employment and the anniversary date will remain the same.

.06 Union Leave:

Firefighters can trade shifts for purpose of attending union executive business provided that all trades are approved by the Fire Chief, or his designate, and there is no cost to the City.

36. REFRESHMENTS

.01 The City shall make provisions for supplying refreshments to the firefighters on duty at an incident and/or to those who have worked overtime for a period in excess of three (3) hours, or to firefighters who are called back and required to standby for a period in excess of three (3) hours and which occurs over the normal meal time. Further refreshments shall be supplied at the discretion of the Officer in charge of the incident. The Officer in charge shall ensure the costs of such refreshments are within reasonable limits

37. NO DISCRIMINATION

.01 The parties of this Agreement agree that there shall be no discrimination or restriction or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any Employee in the matter of hiring, wage rates, training, upgrading, promotion, transfer, lay-off, recall, discipline, discharge, political status, by reason of any protected grounds contained in the Canadian or Alberta Human Rights legislation, or by reason of his membership or activity in the Union.

38. LINE OF DUTY DEATH

.01 The Employer agrees to contribute up to a maximum of five (5) thousand dollars towards the costs incurred to provide a full honours Line of Duty Death ceremonial service for an active firefighter covered by this collective agreement and whose death has been attributed to the work they perform on behalf of the employer and has been ruled as compensable by WCB. Such services will be in keeping with the AFD accepted protocols.

39. LIABILITY INSURANCE

.01 The City agrees to continue and maintain liability insurance coverage for firefighters while carrying out their duties on behalf of the City. This includes paying for legal expenses and settlement costs arising from actions or lawsuits against a member, except where the claims arise from the member's gross negligence or disregard for his duties as a firefighter. In the event the City wishes to reduce the dollar amount of liability coverage, it can only be done by mutual agreement with the Association.

40. SHORT TERM AND LONG TERM DISABILITY

.01 Suppression Staff: After eight (8) calendar days of illness (regardless of whether work was scheduled during that time or not), or on the day of injury, the City's short term disability plan comes into effect for the firefighter. Upon the expiration of the short term disability (17 weeks), the City's long term disability comes into effect. The firefighter will continue to pay their portion of all regular and statutory deductions and benefits, including STD and LTD. LAPP and RSP contributions are the responsibility of the firefighter to manage through the respective program providers.

- .02 Non-suppression Staff: After seven (7) calendar days of illness (regardless of whether work was scheduled during that time or not), or on the day of injury, the City's short term disability plan comes into effect for non-suppression staff. Upon the expiration of the short term disability (17 weeks), the City's long term disability comes into effect. The employee will continue to pay their portion of all regular and statutory deductions and benefits, including STD and LTD. LAPP and RSP contributions are the responsibility of the firefighter to manage through the respective program providers.
- .03 Vacation, sick time and stat bank time are not accrued while on STD or LTD leaves.

41. TRAINING

.01 The parties agree to comply with the Airdrie Fire Department Standard Operating Guideline in Training (S.O.G. # 6.21) as revised from time to time. Changes to this SOG will be in consultation with the Union through the Labour Management Committee

42. <u>SENIOR FIREFIGHTER</u>

.01 Effective first pay period of 2015 the rank of Senior Firefighter shall be added to Appendix A at the rate of 103.5% of a 1st Class Firefighter. Senior Firefighter class is reached after 8 years of completed service.

43. SERVICE PAY

.01 Effective January 1, 2017 Service Pay to be paid beginning at the conclusion of 10 years of service with Airdrie Fire Department and increasing to the next step at the conclusion of 15, 20, 25 and 30 years by the following increments:

Years of Continuous Service	Dollars per Year
10 – 14	\$600.00
15 – 19	\$800.00
20 – 24	\$1,000.00
25 – 29	\$1,200.00
30+	\$1,400.00

44. ALTERNATIVE TO SUPPLEMENTARY PENSION PLAN

- .01 It is the intent of both the Association and the Employer to support participation in a Supplementary Pension Plan. This plan will provide Firefighters with retirement savings in addition to the Local Authorities Pension Plan.
- .02 It is understood that the plan will not result in additional administrative cost to the City of Airdrie and will be limited to the current administrative cost of the Supplementary Pension Program. The program will be voluntary and can be joined at any time.
- .03 A registered savings plan will be used for firefighters. The contribution rate for participating members will be 2.5%. The contribution rate for the City will be 3%.
- .04 Should the Association choose to replace the current registered savings plan with an alternative plan, the current registered savings plan will no longer be available.
- .05 The Employers contribution rate to any savings plan will not exceed the current rate of 3%.

45. MANDATORY RETIREMENT

- .01 Firefighters hired prior to 2019 shall retire no later than reaching the age of 65 years.
- .02 Firefighters hired after January 1, 2019 shall retire no later than reaching the age of 60 years.

46. NEW CLASSIFICATION

01. Where the City proposes to establish a new classification within the bargaining unit, the rate of pay shall be negotiated between the City and the Association.

- 02. In the event that the parties fail to reach agreement within thirty (30) days of the date that the employer presents to the Association with its proposal, the City shall have the right to implement its proposal and the City and the Association may continue to negotiate or refer the differences between the parties to the Grievance Procedure commencing at Step III
- Any subsequent adjustment in wage rates shall be retroactive to the date of the implementation of the City's proposal.

47. JOB PROFILES

 Changes to qualification in Job Profiles shall be reviewed by the Promotions Board.

48. DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- .01 This Agreement shall be effective January 1, 2018 and will continue in force until December 31, 2020. Where notice to commence collective bargaining has been served in writing by either party not more than 180 days and not less than 60 days preceding the expiry of the term, the Agreement shall continue in force until a new collective agreement is in effect or until the right of the Association to represent the firefighters is terminated.
- .02 Where notice to commence collective bargaining is not served within the time specified above, the Agreement shall continue to operate for a further term of one (1) year until December 31, 2021, as set out in the Labour Relations Code.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have executed these presents duly attested by their proper officers respectively in that behalf.

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED IN THE PRESENCE OF:

THE CITY OF AIRDRIE	AIRDRIE PROFESSIONAL FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION LOCAL 4778 OF THE IAFF
MARK LOCKING DIRECTOR COMMUNITY SAFETY	MATT ELGIE PRESIDENT
KEVIN WEINBERGER FIRE CHIEF	MARC HELTON VICE-PRESIDENT
TERESA LYNN-POTTER HUMAN RESOURCES	TYRELL SINCLAIR SECRETARY
	MIKE SOWERBY TREASURER

Appendix "A" Regular Rates of Pay

Firefighters:

		January 2018	January 2019	January 2020
Platoon	135.0%	\$136,962.51	\$139,701.76	\$142,495.79
Chief		\$62.71	\$63.97	\$65.25
Captain	122.0%	\$123,773.52	\$126,249.00	\$128,773.97
		\$56.67	\$57.81	\$58.96
Senior	103.5%	\$105,004.59	\$107,104.68	\$109,246.77
Firefighter		\$48.08	\$49.04	\$50.02
1st Class	100.0%	\$101,453.71	\$103,482.78	\$105,552.44
Firefighter		\$46.45	\$47.38	\$48.33
Firefighter	92.5%	\$93,844.68	\$95,721.58	\$97,636.00
2nd Class		\$42.97	\$43.83	\$44.71
Firefighter	84.5%	\$85,728.38	\$87,442.95	\$89,191.81
3rd Class		\$39.25	\$40.04	\$40.84
Firefighter	74.6%	\$75,684.47	\$77,198.16	\$78,742.12
Probationary		\$34.65	\$35.35	\$36.05

Advancement is dependent on completion of years and qualifications as outlined in S.O.G 1.5.

Fire Prevention Officer	Regular	Rates of	of Pay:	
		Janu	arv 2018	

		January 2018	January 2019	January 2020
FPO	122.0%	\$123,773.52	\$126,249.00	\$128,773.97
Level III		\$59.51	\$60.70	\$61.91
FPO	112.0%	\$113,628.15	\$115,900.72	\$118,218.73
Level II		\$54.63	\$55.72	\$56.84
FPO	106.0%	\$107,540.93	\$109,691.75	\$111,885.58
Level I		\$51.70	\$52.74	\$53.79

The Fire Prevention Officer position is based on a 40 hour work week and the percentage is based on the 1st Class Firefighter rate of pay.

Appendix "B" AB Employment Standards Vacation

Alberta Labour Standards Vacations-and-Vacation-Pay.pdf

Excerpt

The entitlement to vacations and vacation pay are intended to ensure that employees annually have a rest from work without loss of income.

The basic entitlement to annual vacations is as follows:

- 2 weeks after each of the first 4 years of employment, and
- 3 weeks after 5 consecutive years of employment and each year of employment after that.

Therefore, employees are entitled to take two weeks' vacation in each year from the second to the fifth year of employment, and each year after the fifth anniversary they are entitled to three weeks' paid vacation.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1

BETWEEN THE CITY OF AIRDRIE AND THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS, LOCAL 4778

RE: TRAINING RELIEF

The City of Airdrie and Local 4778 agree that in an effort to manage suppression schedules and participation in training events, the following principles will be applied:

- The Training Calendar is due to be shared with AFD employees on or before November 15 for the upcoming year.
- The employees will have their Training schedule set on or before November 30.
- Following the publication of the Training schedule, the employer can modify the members schedule for training events of 8 hours or more with 6 months' notice.
- With less than 6 months' notice, modifications to the schedule to accommodate training will be made through mutual agreement between the City, the Association and the employee.
- At the end of a training event, the employee will not owe time.
- If training immediately follows a scheduled shift, the employee will have a minimum of 12 hours off prior to the start of training.
- Employees will provide a minimum of 60 days' notice when withdrawing from a course.

Signed this	_day of	, 2019	
City of Airdrie		I.A.F.F., local 4778	